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OPINION AND ORDER

BY THE COMMISSION:

Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition are the Exceptions of IDT Energy, Inc. (IDT or Respondent), an electric generation supplier (EGS), filed on March 9, 2015, to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Joel H. Cheskis issued on February 17, 2015.  The Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA) filed Replies to Exceptions on March 19, 2015.  For the reasons stated below, we will deny the Exceptions of IDT and adopt the ALJ’s Initial Decision as modified herein, which sustained the Complaint of Stephen Kiback, Jr. (Mr. Kiback or Complainant).

History of the Proceeding

On March 4, 2014, Mr. Kiback filed a Formal Complaint (Complaint) against IDT using the Commission’s standard complaint form.  In response to Paragraph 4, which requests the reason for the Complaint, the Complainant averred that “IDT has tripled the amount they charge for generation and transmission,” further alleging that the rate he had been charged increased from $0.0919/kWh to $0.279/kWh. Complaint at 2.  In response to Paragraph 5, identifying the relief requested, the Complainant stated that when he agreed to IDT’s service, “they said they would save me 10% over PP&L. … I would like the PCU [sic] to make them pay me back the money they overcharged me in previous months plus reduce my bill for this month.”  Id. at 3.  The Complainant also stated that in his opinion a two to three month time period to transfer to another EGS was unfair and that his limited income affected his ability to pay.  Attached to the Complaint were Mr. Kiback’s May 2013, January 2014, February 2014, and March 2014 bills.

On March 26, 2014, IDT requested a thirty-day extension for filing a response, a request granted by Secretarial Letter dated March 27, 2014.  On April 25, 2014, IDT filed an Answer (Answer) to the Complaint. IDT admitted that the Complainant’s charges increased as a result of increases in the wholesale energy market in January and February 2014.  IDT also stated that it was attempting to resolve the Complaint “to help ameliorate the impact of wholesale energy price increases[.]”  Answer at 1.  In response to the Complainant’s request for relief, IDT averred that it “offered to retroactively apply a rate adjustment to Mr. Kiback’s usage for the periods impacted by the wholesale price spikes” and that it had offered “rebates and refunds to thousands of customers.”  Id. at 2.  IDT requested mediation to further address the Complaint.

By Notice dated July 3, 2014, the Office of Administrative Law Judge scheduled an initial telephonic hearing for August 20, 2014.  On July 29, 2014, IDT filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (Motion) accompanied by a Notice to Plead.  In its Motion IDT averred that even if the facts alleged by Mr. Kiback were proven, they did not set forth a claim for which relief could be granted because the Complainant did not allege that IDT violated the terms of its disclosure statement or that IDT violated the Public Utility Code (Code) or Commission Regulations.  Included in the Motion was an affidavit of Wayne Stoughton, IDT’s Vice President of Customer Service and Regulatory Compliance, summarizing Mr. Kiback’s account history and including a copy of IDT’s disclosure statement mailed to Mr. Kiback for the month-to-month variable price product upon his enrollment with IDT in August 2011.  Motion at 4.

In the affidavit IDT explained that it already had provided a refund and a goodwill credit to the Complainant in response to his concerns over price increases experienced as a result of the polar vortex weather effect in early 2014.  IDT concluded that summary judgment was appropriate because the prices charged by IDT were in accordance with its disclosure statement, IDT did not control the period of time required to switch EGSs, and IDT had already provided the Complainant the relief requested.  Id.  IDT further contended that although Mr. Kiback “allege[d] that he was promised by IDT that his price would always be lower than PPL’s, and that this promise was broken when IDT’s rate exceeded PPL’s[,]” the disclosure statement made it clear that IDT was providing Mr. Kiback a variable rate and did not state that the price was guaranteed to save him money over PPL.  Id. at 7.  Rather, according to IDT, the disclosure statement made it clear that there was no ceiling price.  IDT contended that because Mr. Kiback was a customer of IDT from August 2011 through March 2014, he was or should have been aware that he had a variable rate product.  Id. at 8.  It was neither false advertising nor an unethical business practice for an EGS to offer a low introductory rate to entice new customers and then follow with a higher rate following the expiration of an introductory rate, claimed IDT.  Id. at 8-9.  Finally, since IDT provided Mr. Kiback an adjustment to his bill to reduce the affected billing period from $0.27/kWh to $0.09/kWh, as indicated on the account history attached to IDT’s affidavit, the issue was moot and no controversy continued to exist.  Id. at 9-10.  Accordingly, claimed IDT, summary judgment was appropriate. 

By Order dated August 1, 2014, the ALJ cancelled the hearing scheduled for August 20, 2014, and provided the Complainant until August 21, 2014, to file an Answer to the Motion.  On August 21, 2014, the OCA filed a Notice of Intervention and an Answer to IDT’s Motion (OCA Answer).  The Complainant did not file a response to the Motion.

According to the OCA, the Complainant averred that IDT induced him to switch to IDT by promising a savings of 10% compared to PPL’s price to compare.  This, contended the OCA, raised questions concerning IDT’s marketing and billing conduct as an EGS, constituting disputed questions of material fact that warranted a hearing.  OCA Answer at 1-2.  According to the OCA, whether IDT provided Mr. Kiback accurate and adequate information to make an informed decision was an important and relevant question, citing the Code at Section 2807(d)(2), 66 Pa. C.S. § 2807(d)(2), and the Commission’s Regulations at 52 Pa. Code §§ 54.1 and 54.43(1).  Further, contended the OCA, whether IDT complied with the applicable standards of conduct for EGSs, including actions by its telemarketers, was also an important and relevant question, the answer to which could also result in license suspension or revocation, citing 52 Pa. Code §§ 54.42(6) and (7), 54.31, and 54.43.  As the OCA noted, IDT solicited Mr. Kiback by telephone and did not provide the written disclosure statement until after enrollment.  Moreover, according to the OCA, the disclosure statement did not contain any information specific to Mr. Kiback’s enrollment.  Chapter 54 of the Commission’s Regulations requires continuity and consistency between marketed/advertised prices, the agreed upon price in the disclosure statement, and the billed price, contended the OCA.  Further, whether IDT’s credits to Mr. Kiback satisfied the Complainant was an issue of fact that required a hearing.  As the OCA claimed, a unilateral claim of satisfaction does not satisfy the Commission’s process at 52 Pa. Code § 5.24(b).  Finally, asserted the OCA, it was unclear whether Mr. Kiback’s concern regarding the period of time required to switch customers was directed at IDT’s customer service or the time frame for switching itself.  Thus, contended the OCA, material questions remained in dispute, warranting a hearing.  Id. at 5-8.

By Order dated September 2, 2014 (Summary Judgment Order), the ALJ denied IDT’s Motion for Summary Judgment and directed that the Complaint proceed to hearing.  By Prehearing Order #3 dated September 5, 2014, the ALJ scheduled a hearing for October 27, 2014.

In his Summary Judgment Order, the ALJ set forth the standards applicable to summary judgment and judgment on the pleadings found at Section 5.102 of the Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 5.102.  The ALJ found that when examining the record in the light most favorable to the Complainant, the non-moving party, material facts were not free from doubt and therefore IDT was not entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Based upon Mr. Kiback’s averment that he was told he would save 10% over PPL’s rate when he enrolled with IDT, the ALJ found that it was reasonable to infer that a genuine issue existed regarding information IDT provided Mr. Kiback, including marketing activities or activities of its sales department, when he enrolled.  Mr. Kiback also averred that what he was told when he enrolled differed from what he received.  Summary Judgment Order at 4.  Addressing IDT’s focus in the Motion on the matter of a refund and the variable nature of the Complainant’s contract, the ALJ found that IDT did not address issues related to IDT’s marketing or Mr. Kiback’s ability to pay.  Id. at 4-5.  Similarly, by focusing on the disclosure statement, the ALJ found that IDT failed to address what Mr. Kiback may have been told at the time he enrolled in the service.  Id. at 5.  Accordingly, the ALJ concluded that genuine issues of material fact remained to be addressed at a hearing and that IDT was not entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

A telephonic hearing was held on October 27, 2014.  Mr. Kiback represented himself and testified on his own behalf.  IDT presented the testimony of its Vice President Stoughton and two hearing exhibits.  The record closed on November 18, 2014, with the submission to the Commission of the transcript, which comprises forty-nine pages.  On February 17, 2015, the Commission issued the ALJ’s Initial Decision in which the ALJ sustained Mr. Kiback’s Complaint, finding that the Complainant sustained his burden of demonstrating that IDT violated the Commission’s Regulations, imposing a civil penalty and ordering a refund.  IDT filed Exceptions on March 9, 2015; the OCA filed Replies to Exceptions on March 19, 2015.  The Complainant did not file Exceptions or Replies.

Discussion

As the proponent of a rule or order, the Complainant in this proceeding bears the burden of proof pursuant to Section 332(a) of the Code.  66 Pa. C.S. § 332(a).  To establish a sufficient case and satisfy the burden of proof, Mr. Kiback must show that IDT is responsible or accountable for the problem described in his Complaint.  Patterson v. The Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. P.U.C. 196 (1990).  Such a showing must be by a preponderance of the evidence.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. PUC, 578 A.2d 600 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990), alloc. denied, 529 Pa. 654, 602 A.2d 863 (1992).  That is, the Complainant’s evidence must be more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by the Respondent.  Se-Ling Hosiery, Inc. v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  Additionally, this Commission’s decision must be supported by substantial evidence in the record.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. PUC, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980).

Upon the presentation by the Complainant of evidence sufficient to initially satisfy the burden of proof, the burden of going forward with the evidence to rebut the evidence of the customer shifts to IDT. If the evidence presented by IDT is of co-equal value or “weight,” the burden of proof has not been satisfied. The Complainant now has to provide some additional evidence to rebut that of the Respondent.  Burleson v. Pa. PUC, 443 A.2d 1373 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1982), aff’d, 501 Pa. 433, 461 A.2d 1234 (1983).

While the burden of going forward with the evidence may shift back and forth during a proceeding, the burden of proof never shifts.  The burden of proof always remains on the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission.  Milkie v. Pa. PUC, 768 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001).  Having filed the Complaint against IDT, Mr. Kiback is obliged to carry the burden of proving that the Respondent has violated the Code, a Commission Regulation, or a Commission Order.

The ALJ made thirty-two Findings of Fact (FOF) and reached sixteen Conclusions of Law (COL). I.D. at 3-6, 18-21.  The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are incorporated herein by reference and are adopted without comment unless they are either expressly or by necessary implication rejected or modified by this Opinion and Order.

We also note that any issue or Exception that we do not specifically delineate shall be deemed to have been duly considered and denied without further discussion.  The Commission is not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the parties.  Consolidated Rail Corp. v. Pa. PUC, 625 A.2d 741 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); also see, generally, University of Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).

The ALJ’s Initial Decision

		The ALJ sustained the Complaint, finding that Mr. Kiback met his burden of proving that IDT violated the Commission’s Regulations regarding telemarketing and bill format, and thus warranted a civil penalty. The ALJ further found that the Complainant sustained his burden of proving that his billed prices were not consistent with marketed prices, warranting a refund of the amount overbilled.  I.D. at 1, 3.

	The ALJ reviewed the pertinent statutory and regulatory provisions applicable to EGSs, including the requirements for bill format and disclosure statements, as well as the standards of conduct and disclosure of licensees, including in particular the Commission’s Regulation regarding telemarketing.  The ALJ also noted that the Commission’s Regulation at 52 Pa. Code § 111.10(a)(3) requires a supplier and its agents to comply with the federal Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act and related federal regulations.  Citing specifically Sections 310.3(a)(1)(i)-(ii) and 310.3(a)(2) of the federal regulations, 16 C.F.R. §§ 310.3(a)(1)(i)-(ii) and 310.3(a)(2), the ALJ concluded that agents are prohibited from failing to disclose truthfully in a clear and conspicuous manner the total costs and all limitations relating to purchases.  I.D. at 7-8, COL Nos. 6-8.

	Reviewing the testimony of the two witnesses, Mr. Kiback and IDT’s Mr. Stoughton, as well as IDT’s exhibits, including the disclosure statement, the ALJ determined that Mr. Kiback carried his burden of proving a violation of Sections 111.10 and 54.4 of the Commission’s Regulations.  According to the ALJ, Mr. Kiback credibly testified that he enrolled with IDT in response to a telemarketer’s representation that he would be provided a rate 10% lower than PPL’s and that this representation was the only reason he agreed to switch to IDT.  Based upon the telemarketer’s representations, Mr. Kiback expected that his rate with IDT would remain lower than PPL’s even though the rate increased and decreased.  I.D. at 8-9.  Although IDT witness Stoughton testified that agents are trained to be clear that rates are never guaranteed to realize savings beyond any promotional offer, the ALJ found that IDT provided no evidence to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony supporting his expectation of continued savings over PPL’s rate based upon his conversations with the telemarketer.  I.D. at 10.

	IDT’s witness Stoughton testified that no recordings existed of the sales calls with Mr. Kiback and that he was not familiar with the content of those calls.  IDT presented neither the testimony of the responsible sales agent nor a copy of the script that was averred to have been used.  As the ALJ concluded, “Mr. Kiback’s testimony is more credible when weighed against the paucity of evidence presented by IDT regarding the sales call.”  I.D. at 10.  Accordingly, because Mr. Kiback’s rate exceeded PPL’s rate in the months of January and February 2014, the ALJ found that Mr. Kiback carried his burden of proving that IDT violated Section 111.10 of the Commission’s Regulations regarding telemarketing standards.  I.D. at 11.

	Relying on Yaglidereliler Corporation v. Blue Pilot Energy, LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2413732 (Order entered January 16, 2015) (Yaglidereliler), the ALJ concluded that “oral representations made to a consumer during the time of the sale are important.”  I.D. at 12.  Discussing the evidence presented, the ALJ conducted the following analysis:

	In this case, IDT did not rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony that he was told by a sales agent that he would receive a rate lower than PPLs because it did not provide any recording, or any other evidence, regarding that portion of the sales call.  In contrast, Mr. Kiback clearly stated that he would not have switched to IDT if he was not told by the sales agent that the rate would be less than PPL’s rate.  Mr. Kiback’s testimony regarding what he was told by the sales agent is credible.  The representations made by the sales agent failed to disclose truthfully in a clear and conspicuous manner the total cost to purchase electric generation service from IDT or any material conditions to receive such service from IDT.  IDT witness Stoughton’s testimony that the Company trains its telemarketing agent to explain to customers that IDT’s prices are not or will not be guaranteed to be below the utility’s prices and provides a detailed script to explain its promotions does not sufficiently rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony on this issue.  Nor is it sufficient to negate a violation of the Commission’s telemarketing regulations that Mr. Kiback was subsequently sent a disclosure statement and had a right to rescind the contract.  Tr. 40.  IDT has not provided any evidence to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony.  Therefore, substantial record evidence demonstrates that IDT violated Section 111.10(a)(3) of the Commission’s regulations.

I.D. at 12-13.  The ALJ further found that an EGS’ bills must reflect both marketed prices and the prices agreed to as reflected in the disclosure statement in accordance with Section 54.4 of the Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 54.4.  Because IDT’s rates for January and February 2014 were not lower than PPL’s as the sales agent represented to Mr. Kiback, the ALJ concluded that IDT violated Section 54.4.  Thus, the ALJ concluded, Mr. Kiback carried his burden of proving that IDT violated the Commission’s Regulations regarding telemarketing and bill format.  I.D. at 13.

	Having found two violations of Commission Regulations, the ALJ next reviewed the Commission’s policy statement regarding the imposition of civil penalties set forth at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c).  Reviewing each of the ten enumerated factors, the ALJ concluded the following with respect to each: (1) the conduct was serious; (2) the consequences were less so in that they did not involve personal injury or property damage: (3) the conduct was intentional; (4) there was no evidence to demonstrate that IDT changed its practices to prevent similar occurrences; (5) the impact was on only one customer but on two occasions; (6) there was no evidence to consider with respect to compliance history; (7) the Respondent’s cooperation with a Commission investigation was not applicable in this proceeding; (8) a higher penalty would deter future violations; (9) a higher penalty was warranted because in a prior Commission decision the Commission found that oral representations to consumers are important; and (10) the failure to present any recording of the sales call to refute the Complainant’s testimony warranted a higher penalty.  I.D. at 15-17.  In total, the ALJ determined that imposition of a $2,000 penalty, comprising a $1,000 penalty for the January 2014 violation and an identical penalty for the February 2014 violation, was appropriate.  Id.

	Finally, in response to Mr. Kiback’s request for a refund, the ALJ considered the Commission’s Order in Commonwealth of PA v. IDT Energy, Inc., Docket No. C-2014-2427657 (Order entered December 18, 2014) (IDT December 2014 Order).  The Commission determined in that Order, in response to a Petition for Interlocutory Review of a Material Question, that while it could not compel a refund under authority of Section 1312 of the Code addressing refunds by public utilities, the Commission did have plenary authority under Section 501 of the Code to order an EGS to refund money or issue a credit for an overbill.  Finding that record evidence demonstrated that Mr. Kiback was overbilled for the months of January and February 2014 because IDT’s billed prices did not reflect its marketed prices, the ALJ directed IDT to provide Mr. Kiback a refund for the amounts overbilled in those months.  I.D. at 17‑18.

The Parties’ Exceptions and Replies

		IDT filed three Exceptions (Exc.) challenging the ALJ’s findings and claiming that the decision contains several errors of law and lacks substantial evidence.  IDT characterizes the ALJ’s central findings as based solely on “a vague and contradictory recollection of an oral sales call” by someone who only complained after the weather experiences of the polar vortex in early 2014 and thirty months after enrollment.  Exc. at 1.  IDT also claims that its bills to the Complainant fully comported with its disclosure statement, and that the ALJ wrongly relied on the Complainant’s “nebulous and vaguely recollected ‘promise’ by a sales agent three years previously.”  Exc. at 2.  Specifically, IDT takes exception that: (1) the findings are not supported by substantial evidence; (2) the Initial Decision conflicts with Commission policy and precedent; and (3) the facts of this case do not warrant finding a violation or imposing a civil penalty or refund.  Exc. at 8, 17, and 23.

		Citing the Initial Decision at 10 and 13, FOF Nos. 6 and 8, and COL Nos. 15-16,[footnoteRef:1] IDT first challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support the ALJ’s finding that IDT violated the Commission’s Regulations by failing to truthfully disclose the total generation cost and by charging a price that differed from that marketed by its sales agent.  According to IDT, these violations both stem from the Complainant’s allegation that IDT’s sales agent promised that its rate would be lower than PPL’s, an “oral promise” that IDT claims “the record reveals . . . is far from the truth.”  Exc. at 8.  As characterized by IDT, “[t]he sole basis for this crucial factual finding was the very vague and sparse testimony by Mr. Kiback about his recollection – three years after the fact – of an oral sales discussion that ultimately led to his enrollment.”  Id.  Addressing the ALJ’s finding that because IDT failed to present any evidence to rebut this testimony Mr. Kiback carried his burden of proof, IDT avers that the ALJ’s decision fails to consider factors that undermine Mr. Kiback’s testimony and warrant reversal of the Initial Decision.  Id. at 8-9. [1: 	 	IDT identifies specific Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to which it excepts in this Exception but fails to do so with either its second or third Exceptions as required by Section 5.533(b) of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 5.533(b).  Nevertheless, we will accept these Exceptions as filed pursuant to Section 1.2(a) of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 1.2(a), in order to secure a just, speedy and inexpensive determination.] 


		IDT argues that Mr. Kiback’s testimony is sparse, vague, and contradictory, and therefore is not sufficient to carry his burden of proof.  Noting that Mr. Kiback testified that he received more than one telemarketing sales call, IDT suggests that whether all those calls were from IDT is unclear.  Id. at 8 n.4.  IDT claims that Mr. Kiback only testified that IDT “could” be ten percent lower than PPL, although Mr. Kiback later testified that it “would” be, and that the rate just kept going up, whereas IDT proved that the rate both decreased and increased.  Id. at 9, 10 (emphasis in original).  IDT further contends that this testimony is uncorroborated by anything more specific such as the precise words the agent used, how many conversations occurred and when, whether the same agent was involved, or even the name or gender of the agent.  Id. at 9.  Questioning the sufficiency of Mr. Kiback’s testimony, IDT criticizes it as unaccompanied by any notes or independent corroboration.  Id. at 9-10.  Regarding evidentiary standards applicable to a complaint proceeding, IDT argues that bald assertions, personal opinion, or perceptions do not constitute evidence, citing, inter alia, McCauley v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, 2014 WL 1390779 (Pa.P.U.C.) (McCauley) and Bennett v. UGI, Docket No. F-2013-2396611 (Final Order entered May 29, 2014) (Bennett).  IDT concludes that Mr. Kiback’s testimony accurately describes the same information presented in IDT’s disclosure statement, namely that the price was variable and could increase or decrease, and that therefore this evidence is insufficient to support the ALJ’s finding of two violations.  Id. at 10-12.

	IDT also contends that the ALJ relied heavily on Yaglidereliler to support the conclusion that Mr. Kiback’s allegations regarding the sales agent’s oral representations were sufficient to sustain his burden of proof.  However, asserts IDT, Yaglidereliler involved summary judgment where the standard of proof is different.  Exc. at 12-13.

	IDT challenges the credibility of the Complainant’s testimony on the bases of timeliness of his Complaint and inconsistencies in his testimony. IDT asserts that Mr. Kiback enrolled with IDT thirty months before he filed the Complaint and never complained to IDT even though his rate changed month-to-month, an inconsistency IDT finds fatal to the Complainant’s testimony.  Id. at 13-14.  Focusing on the enrollment, IDT contends that the ALJ committed a critical error by failing to account for the fact that Mr. Kiback, the sole witness on whose testimony the finding of a violation rests, was not the individual who completed the third party verification (TPV) in the enrollment process.  Id. at 14.  This, contends IDT, “casts serious doubt on Mr. Kiback’s testimony about the sales call, because it is unclear whether he in fact did participate in the sales call” and “cast[s] serious doubt on the reliability of his memory, the reasonableness of his beliefs about the sales offer, the accuracy of his testimony, and the timing, nature, and actual recipient of the oral sales representations that resulted in the enrollment.”  Id. at 14-15.  IDT also cites to other alleged inconsistencies in Mr. Kiback’s testimony, for example initially testifying that the rates always increased but then acknowledging that they both increased and decreased, and referencing “a mysterious second letter” only to have to have to retract that assertion.  Id. at 15.  Claiming that the ALJ chose to accept Mr. Kiback’s “bald and contradictory assertions” over a more fair reading of the evidence, IDT concludes that the ALJ failed to recognize “the uncertainty, vagueness, and gaps in Mr. Kiback’s testimony,” rendering an Initial Decision that is not supported by substantial evidence.  Id. at 16-17.

	In its second Exception, IDT asserts that the ALJ’s Initial Decision conflicts with Commission policy and precedent.  Focusing on the enrollment process, IDT addresses the Commission’s requirements that obligate customers to timely raise concerns about enrollment and obligate EGSs to maintain records of enrollment, citing, inter alia, 52 Pa. Code §§ 54.5(d), 57.177, and 111.11 and referencing a Commission rulemaking order regarding change of suppliers.[footnoteRef:2]  Exc. at 17-18.  Commission rules, IDT contends, “reinforce the fundamental principle that the rates that consumers pay in the retail electric market are not governed by recollections of sales calls, but rather are governed by the terms of their contract with the EGS.”  Id. at 18.  Citing Dawes v. Pennsylvania Gas & Electric, Docket No. F-2013-2361655 (Final Order entered February 27, 2014) (Dawes) and Hoke v. Ambit Northeast, LLC d/b/a Ambit Energy, Docket No. C-2013-2357863 (Final Order entered January 16, 2014) (Hoke), IDT asserts that the Commission has previously rejected customer allegations that sales promises did not comply with disclosure promises even when a customer timely complained.  Id. at 19. [2: 	 	IDT cites Rulemaking Order Establishing Standards for Changing a Customer’s Electric Supplier, Docket No. L-00970121 (Order entered February 27, 1998).] 


	IDT continues its argument as follows:

In order for the competitive electricity market to function, a supplier’s written contract terms must be given binding force and effect.  A disclosure statement’s language has meaning, and it should not be permitted to be disregarded or altered by parol evidence by either the customer or the supplier, especially 30 months after the fact.  Verbal discussions between a sales agent and a prospective customer always have the potential for misunderstanding, particularly in the case of sales discussions for electric generation supply involving terminology and jargon that may be unfamiliar to customers.  This is why the Commission requires written disclosure statements and a right of rescission after receipt of the disclosure statement – to ensure that there is no dispute as to the terms of the service and to allow the customer to cancel the enrollment if the customer is not comfortable with all of the terms.

Exc. at 19-20.  In response to the ALJ’s discussion of IDT’s failure to refute Mr. Kiback’s testimony of promised savings over PPL by offering evidence from the telemarketer, IDT claims “it is simply not realistic to expect a supplier to track down a former independent telemarketing sales representative who makes numerous sales calls each day, and have that agent testify about the details of one particular sales call from over three years ago in order to justify billings that were completely in accordance with a disclosure statement.”  Id. at 20.

	IDT again casts aspersions on the reliability of Mr. Kiback’s testimony, questioning why the Complainant did not rescind the contract after reading the disclosure statement, or file a complaint when he saw the rate was variable, or simply cancel his IDT service.   Id. at 21.  According to IDT, the regulatory scheme is intended to avoid this type of “‘he said-she said’ disputes” or reliance on oral testimony from dated memories.  Id.  Contending that Mr. Kiback’s Complaint is really about the rate, IDT argues that by elevating the oral sales representations over the written disclosure statement, the ALJ has essentially found that the disclosure statement has no part in the analysis of an alleged violation.  Id. at 21-22.  This, contends IDT, will throw the entire competitive electric market in Pennsylvania into disarray.  Id. at 22.

	In its third Exception, IDT contends that neither a civil penalty nor a refund is warranted in this case.  IDT avers that the Initial Decision “is deeply flawed and illogical, and reflects an unjust pre-disposition [sic] to find a violation where none exists.”  Exc. at 23.  IDT also avers that the alleged violation of the “Federal Telemarketer Sales Rule (“TSR”) [] was never pled” and was “based on testimony that was elicited after the statute of limitations on TSR claims had expired.”[footnoteRef:3]  Id. [3: 	 	While raised, IDT does not pursue this argument or explain how an alleged three-year statute of limitations has been exceeded by a Complaint filed on March 3, 2014, for telemarketing activity made in or around July 2011. Tr. at 14-15; Exc. at 25.  For these reasons we do not address this averment in our disposition.] 


	IDT claims that it billed Mr. Kiback in accordance with its standard written disclosure statement, which statement unequivocally stated that the rate was variable and could be higher or lower than the utility’s rate with no ceiling.  Despite this evidence, claims IDT, the ALJ found that IDT violated Section 54.4 of our Regulations, which provides that EGS bills must reflect the prices that are marketed and agreed to in the disclosure statement.  To reach this conclusion, IDT avers, the ALJ found that the bills for January and February 2014 did not reflect marketed prices.  However, claims IDT, this “is a completely circular and illogical holding, because the I.D. had previously found that the same alleged promise was a violation of the Commission’s marketing regulations[.]”  Exc. at 25.  IDT claims that the ALJ cannot find that the sales promise (of savings over PPL) was improper and then at the same time sanction IDT “for not billing in accordance with an improper promise.”  Id.  These holdings, according to IDT, “must be mutually exclusive.  Either IDT’s agent marketed the price incorrectly or IDT did not bill the customer properly, but not both.”  Id.

	On this same basis, IDT contends that the ALJ’s calculation of a proposed civil penalty is a continuation of this “improper and unlawful reasoning.”  Id.  If the violation stems from the telemarketer’s representations, then that violation occurred once in July 2011 and the penalty analysis should focus on that violation, contends IDT.  By “leaping forward nearly three years to calculate civil penalties based on billings in 2014, the I.D. essentially would be sanctioning IDT for the prices it charged[,]” contends IDT, an action outside the Commission’s jurisdiction because the Commission does not regulate EGS prices.  Id. at 25-26.  IDT concludes that the ALJ’s “circular reasoning” is the result of “trying to turn a case that is solely about rates into a case about marketing violations, and then attempting to order a refund based on those marketing violations.”  Id. at 26.  IDT again challenges Mr. Kiback’s testimony, contending it was “cryptic and contradictory” and is moot in any case because IDT offered a refund to “ameliorate the price increase caused by the Polar Vortex, and remains willing to honor that refund.”  Id.  Relying on IDT December 2014 Order, IDT contends that the Commission concluded that it lacked jurisdiction to order refunds for EGS service under Section 1312 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1312, but had authority to carry out the consumer protections in the competitive market by ordering refunds under certain situations.  IDT claims these situations are those involving customer switching without consent and failure to bill customers in accordance with disclosure statements.  Because switching was not an issue and IDT billed Mr. Kiback according to its disclosure statement, IDT asserts that there is no basis for a refund.  Id. at 27.

	The OCA filed Replies to Exceptions (R. Exc.) in which it characterizes IDT’s Exceptions as attempting “to avoid accountability for telemarketing communications which convinced Mr. Kiback that he would receive savings relative to PPL’s” price to compare based on testimony from the Complainant that was “concise, adamant, and credible[.]”  R. Exc. at 4.

	In response to IDT’s first Exception that the ALJ’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, the OCA asserts that the ALJ carefully assessed the credibility of the Complainant’s sworn testimony and the weight of the record evidence.  The OCA describes the Complainant’s testimony as “clear and sufficiently specific evidence regarding the message conveyed by IDT in its sales and marketing to Mr. Kiback through several telemarketing contacts.”  R. Exc. at 6.

	Challenging IDT’s selection of three lines of text from the hearing transcript, which IDT essentially characterizes as the full extent of Mr. Kiback’s testimony, the OCA contends that IDT’s selection “does not even provide the full second sentence, let alone capture the entirety of Mr. Kiback’s testimony[.]”  Id.  Quoting more fully from Mr. Kiback’s testimony during cross-examination by IDT, the OCA contends that Mr. Kiback “succinctly and firmly testified that the information provided by IDT in its sales and marketing caused him to understand that IDT’s service would be priced consistently below PPL’s rate and not just for some introductory period.”  Id. at 7.  The OCA claims that IDT’s suggestion that Mr. Kiback’s testimony is insufficient because it did not repeat more precise language used by the telemarketer sets an unachievable bar that avoids responsibility for misrepresentation.  Id.

	As to IDT’s evaluation of its own evidence, the testimony and exhibits of its witness Stoughton, the OCA notes the ALJ’s observation that the documents provided were generic and not specific to Mr. Kiback and that Mr. Stoughton testified during cross-examination that he had neither knowledge of Mr. Kiback’s solicitation nor evidence to contradict Mr. Kiback’s sworn testimony.  This, contends the OCA, supports the ALJ’s conclusion that IDT failed to rebut Mr. Kiback’s prima facie case.  Id. at 8-9. Contrary to IDT’s limited depiction of Mr. Kiback’s testimony, the OCA contends that the Complainant presented clear and unambiguous testimony about what he was promised.

	Responding to IDT’s criticism of the ALJ’s reliance on Yaglidereliler, the OCA argues not only that customers are entitled to be able to rely on all communications, oral or written, but also that IDT failed to provide sufficient evidence to rebut Mr. Kiback’s testimony, which the ALJ found credible.  Id. at 9-11.  The OCA concludes that the Complainant satisfied his burden of proof by providing unrebutted and substantial evidence that IDT violated the Commission’s Regulations on a matter that, as the ALJ noted, is “critical in the development of a proper market for the competitive provision of electric generation service.”  Id. at 12, quoting I.D. at 11.

	In response to IDT’s criticism of Mr. Kiback’s testimony because of the time elapsed between his enrollment and when he first complained, the OCA contends that Mr. Kiback filed the Complaint when the violation occurred, which was when he no longer received his promised savings.  The passage of time before the violation is immaterial contends the OCA.  Id. at 12-13.  The OCA also contends that IDT’s attempt to question the accuracy of Mr. Kiback’s testimony on the basis that he was not the person on the recorded TPV, which was not moved into evidence, is irrelevant.  As the ALJ correctly concluded, states the OCA, the TPV is separate and distinct from the sales solicitation.  Id. at 13.

	With regard to IDT’s second Exception, that the ALJ’s Initial Decision contravenes Commission precedent and policy, the OCA relies on the Commission’s Orders in Yaglidereliler, MacLuckie v. Palmco Energy PA, LLC, Docket No. C‑2014‑2402558 (Order entered December 4, 2014) (MacLuckie December 2014 Remand Order), and William Towne v. Great American Power, LLC, Docket No. C-2012-2307991 (Order entered October 18, 2013) (Towne).  According to the OCA, “the Commission has clearly stated that a consumer’s understanding of the terms of service, including the EGS’s pricing terms, may be shaped by both the oral communications made by the EGS’s agent during the sales and marketing and written materials.”  Id. at 14.

	The OCA responds to IDT’s claim that the ALJ’s determination will harm the competitive market by referring to Towne, in which the Commission imposed a $10,000 civil penalty on the EGS Great American Power as a result of repeated telemarketing calls that were potentially misleading and lead to slamming.  Referencing multiple sections of subchapter A of our Regulations at 52 Pa. Code §§ 54.1-54.10, the OCA refutes IDT’s contention that Mr. Kiback’s Complaint is tainted by the passage of time between his enrollment and the date of the filing of his Complaint.  As the OCA states, the EGS’ obligations to provide consistent and accurate information extends from the earliest sales and marketing through billing.  To impose a limitation on a customer’s ability to file a complaint for misleading marketing, when the alleged violation does not immediately appear, “could lead to the absurd result that after the passage of the designated time period, the Co. [sic] need not honor any of its promises or marketing statements and customers would have no recourse.”  Id. at 16.

	The OCA also distinguishes Dawes and Hoke, cases that were cited by IDT for the premise that the Commission in prior cases rejected customer allegations that sales promises did not comply with disclosure promises even when a customer timely complained.  In Dawes, claims the OCA, the record evidence included the recorded TPV, which was pivotal to responding to the customer’s claims in that case but, in contrast, not introduced into evidence in this proceeding.  The OCA also contends that in Hoke, the complainant was confused by different information about the EGS’ rate provided on the Commission’s PAPowerSwitch website, which resulted in a comparison of unlike products and confusion.  Id. at 16-17.  Thus factual and record differences account for the different outcomes in Dawes and Hoke, contends the OCA.

	Finally, in response to IDT’s third Exception, taken to the ALJ’s imposition of civil penalties for each violation of Sections 54.4 and 111.10(a)(3) of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §§ 54.4 and 111.10(a)(3), as well as the ALJ’s order of a credit,[footnoteRef:4] the OCA contends that this Exception should be dismissed as contrary to the record and Commission Regulations and policy.  Id. at 18.  The OCA repeats its argument that Commission precedent and Regulations applicable to marketing and sales clearly require that an EGS bill customers in accordance with prices both as they are marketed and as contained in the disclosure statement.  The OCA also asserts that IDT’s claim, that the ALJ’s analysis of violations is circular, is misplaced.  Because the ALJ found that IDT violated both the telemarketing anti-fraud provision in Section 111.10 and the billing provision of Section 54.4(a), noncompliance with each of those individual Regulations supports separate civil penalties in accordance with Section 3301(a) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301(a), contends the OCA.  The OCA also states that it is within the Commission’s authority to correct an overbilling under authority of our decision in IDT December 2014 Order.  Id. at 18-20. [4: 	 	Although referred to as a credit by the OCA, we note that the ALJ ordered a refund not a credit.] 


		Disposition

		Our customer choice Regulations are devoted to establishing a regulatory framework that ensures full and fair implementation of a competitive market for all stakeholders, including competitive providers, their representatives, and their customers.  Chapter 54, subchapter A, addressing customer information, is intended “to require that electricity providers enable customers to make informed choices . . . by providing adequate and accurate customer information.”  52 Pa. Code § 54.1.  Customer information includes written, oral, and electronic communications used by providers to communicate prices and terms to consumers under the definition of customer information.  52 Pa. Code § 54.2.  Prices billed must reflect the prices marketed and agreed to in the disclosure statement.  52 Pa. Code § 54.4(a).  Advertised prices must reflect prices billed and in disclosure statements.  52 Pa. Code § 54.7.  All of this information is subject to our review for compliance purposes. 52 Pa. Code § 54.9.

	Subchapter B addresses EGS licensing and standards, with Section 54.43 governing EGS standards and billing practices.  52 Pa. Code § 54.43.  These Regulations require that consumers be provided accurate information about their services.  52 Pa. Code § 54.43(1).  The Regulations also hold EGSs responsible for any fraudulent, deceptive, or other unlawful marketing or billing acts by employees, agents, or representatives.  52 Pa. Code § 54.43(f).

		Additionally, the current Chapter 111 of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §§ 111.1-111.14, governs marketing and sales practices for the retail residential energy market, including the conduct of EGSs and natural gas suppliers (NGSs) and their agents.  This chapter establishes NGS and EGS marketing and sales standards and practices “to ensure the fairness and the integrity of the competitive residential energy market.”  52 Pa. Code § 111.1.  Sales and marketing includes oral, electronic, and written communications, which, if done by telephone to induce customers, is telemarketing.  52 Pa. Code § 111.2.  EGSs are responsible for any fraudulent, deceptive, or other unlawful marketing or billing acts by employees, agents, or representatives under this chapter as well.  52 Pa. Code § 111.3.  EGSs are required to train their agents on, inter alia, marketing, telemarketing, and consumer protections under our Regulations, and must monitor telephonic marketing and sales calls for compliance.  52 Pa. Code § 111.5.  Telemarketing must comply with consumer protections, including the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act and applicable federal regulations.  52 Pa. Code § 111.10.   Suppliers may not engage in misleading or deceptive conduct, may not make false or misleading representations including misrepresenting rates or savings offered, and shall provide accurate and timely information in plain language.  52 Pa. Code § 111.12.  

	Prior to the June 2013 effective date of these Chapter 111 marketing and sales practices Regulations, the activities of participants in our competitive market was regulated by a code of conduct prescribed in our Interim Guidelines on Marketing and Sales Practices for Electric Generation Suppliers and Natural Gas Suppliers, Docket No. M-2010-2185981 (Order entered November 5, 2010) (2010 Interim Guidelines).  The standards established under our Final Order in 2010 Interim Guidelines are the same as those the ALJ found IDT’s agent to have violated, specifically the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act and applicable federal regulations, supra at 8.[footnoteRef:5]  So, too, was our concern for the development of a fair and robust market.  As we stated then: [5: 	 	See, e.g., 2010 Interim Guidelines at Section A (holding the supplier responsible for the fraudulent, deceptive, or other unlawful marketing or billing acts of its agents, including oral communications); Section D.2 (requiring the monitoring of sales and marketing calls, including telephonic); Section H.2 (requiring compliance with the standards set forth in the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act and related regulations).  ] 


These guidelines are intended to facilitate the effective operation of a vigorous, dynamic, yet fair, competitive residential energy market, to the benefit of consumers, [suppliers, and distribution companies] alike.  A competitive energy market can provide a positive experience for all consumers.  Suppliers are expected to conduct themselves with these expectations in mind so that their sales and marketing activities do not call into question the fairness and integrity of the competitive market.  Anything that damages the reputation of the competitive market harms not only consumers, but also all suppliers participating in the market.

2010 Interim Guidelines at 1.  While we find the ALJ’s disposition of the Complaint to be accurate with respect to its analysis of the proscribed conduct, it relies, in part, on a finding of a violation of our Chapter 111 Regulations rather than our 2010 Interim Guidelines.  Accordingly, in adopting the ALJ’s Initial Decision, we modify the ALJ’s finding of a violation of Section 111.10(a)(3) of our Regulations to reflect a violation of Section H.2 of our 2010 Interim Guidelines instead.  As we noted in that Final Order, “the majority of the interim guidelines are based on statutory law and regulations that have been properly promulgated through the rulemaking process.  We expect full compliance with these guidelines, and will impose penalties as required.”  2010 Interim Guidelines at 10-11.  

		Our customer choice standards are high, specific, and unequivocal.  They are intended to ensure fairness and integrity in the competitive market by requiring all marketer behavior – oral, written, or electronic – to be straightforward and clear.  Only in this way may consumers make informed choices and the market flourish.

		In its Exceptions, IDT focuses more on matters that are not at issue, namely the Complainant’s enrollment and the EGS’ disclosure statement, than on those matters that are at issue, namely its telemarketing.  IDT’s contention, that there is no cause of action because it billed variable rates in full accord with its disclosure statement as fully recognized by the Complainant, permeates its advocacy.  See, e.g., Exc. at 3 (price was in full accord with the disclosure statement); at 4 (all products and materials were designed for a variable price product); at 14 (the Complainant was not the person who completed the enrollment); at 15 (IDT only offered a variable rate as clearly indicated on the disclosure statement); at 17-18 (the Commission’s regulatory scheme requires customers to raise concerns about enrollment in a timely manner and absolves a customer from paying an EGS’ charges if enrollment is unauthorized); at 19 (the Complainant did not raise any concerns about his enrollment until thirty months after the sales call occurred; a disclosure statement’s language has meaning); at 20 (the Complainant was provided a disclosure statement confirming clearly that he was enrolled with a variable rate that could be higher or lower than the electric distribution company’s (EDC’s) rate); at 24 (IDT billed the Complainant in exact accordance with the disclosure statement); at 27 (no basis for a refund because IDT billed the Complainant in accordance with its disclosure statement).  At the same time, however, IDT minimalizes the role of oral marketing.

	As the OCA and ALJ both correctly recognize, our Regulations (which we deem to include our regulatory standards then in effect under the 2010 Interim Guidelines), address not only the disclosure statement and enrollment process but also the EGS’ oral marketing through the actions of its agents and representatives.  As the OCA stated, IDT’s obligation to provide “consistent, accurate and adequate information extend[s] from the earliest of sales and marketing communications to prospective customers through to IDT’s billing of the agreed upon price for supply service.”  R. Exc. at 16 (citations omitted); I.D. at 11-12.  IDT’s obligations regarding enrollment and the written disclosure statement are separate and apart from its obligations regarding marketing.

	The propriety of an EGS’ marketing does not end with the review of its written disclosure statement and bills as IDT argues. As the ALJ concluded, “[t]he conversation with the sales agent is a separate and distinct conversation from the conversation during the third party verification and is subject specifically to Section 111.10 of the Commission’s regulations governing telemarketing.”  I.D. at 11.  This is particularly the case if oral information provided by an EGS’ representative had a bearing on the Complainant’s informed decision to enroll with the EGS.  As Mr. Kiback repeated throughout the hearing, he would not have enrolled had he not been told that IDT’s rate would be lower than PPL’s.  R. Exc. at 7; Tr. at 14-19.

	The ALJ correctly concluded that the development of a robust and reliable competitive market is dependent upon an EGS’ strict adherence to clear and truthful marketing practices as outlined in our Regulations.  

The conversation between the customer and the sales agent is critical in the development of a proper market for the competitive provision of electric generation service.  Yet, in this case, unrebutted record evidence demonstrates that the total cost to purchase, receive or use electric generation service was not truthfully disclosed in a clear and conspicuous manner or that all material restrictions, limitations or conditions were disclosed.  The fact that Mr. Kiback subsequently received a disclosure statement and had a right to rescind the contract does not negate the underlying violation of the Commission’s telemarketing regulation by the sales agent.


I.D. at 11.

		IDT attempts to discredit Mr. Kiback’s testimony throughout its Exceptions.  For example, IDT claims that the Complainant “offered” no testimony about the telemarketer’s precise words, name, or even gender; asserts it was unclear whether all telemarketer calls were even from IDT; and suggests that Mr. Kiback would be “hard pressed” to remember the precise words used in the telemarketing.[footnoteRef:6]  Exc. at 8, 9, and 13.  The testimony Mr. Kiback did offer, however, was, as the OCA contends, “concise, adamant, and credible” as well as “clear and sufficiently specific evidence regarding the message conveyed by IDT in its sales and marketing[,]” as confirmed by the ALJ’s assessment.  R. Exc. at 4, 6. [6: 	 	While raising these questions in Exceptions, we note that there is no evidence in the transcript that Mr. Kiback was asked these specific questions during cross-examination.] 


	Mr. Kiback repeatedly held steadfast in both direct testimony and during cross-examination that IDT in multiple calls promised him a rate lower than PPL’s if he switched.  IDT’s characterization of Mr. Kiback’s testimony as “remarkably sparse and [] not corroborated,” Exc. at 9, is, as the OCA contends, based upon a truncated replication of the Complainant’s testimony, which, when read in its entirety, is clear and convincing. 

Q.	How long did that telephone call [from a telemarketing sales agent] last?

A.	Well, they called a couple times. It wasn’t only once. They just more or less made it sound good; that they could be 10 percent lower than PP&L [sic], which you did at the beginning, and then it just kept going up, like I said in my letter.  …

Q.	That’s okay. That’s okay, Mr. Kiback. I just want to focus more on this telephone enrollment, if I could. Are you sure that the agent told you that the rate would be beneath PPL, the PPL rate?

A.	Sir, why would I change over to you if it would be the same or higher?

Q.	Let me ask you again. Are you sure that you heard the sales agent say that the IDT rate would be below the PPL rate?

A.	Yes, sir, I did. That’s why I switched over.

Q.	Now, isn’t it the case that the sales agent said that the rate would be below PPL’s for a certain period of time of one to two months?

A.	No, sir, they did not.

Tr. at 15; R. Exc. at 6-7.  While the Complainant misspoke that IDT’s rate always went up, he corrected his testimony and acknowledged that the rate went down as well (Tr. at 15-16; Complaint attachments; IDT Ex. 1).  When read in full, however, Mr. Kiback’s testimony reflects his adamant disagreement with any suggestion that his recollection was anything other than that IDT’s rate, without qualification, would be lower than PPL’s.  He was also clear that his complaint was not that the rate was variable, but instead that in January and February 2014 his rate for the first time exceeded PPL’s:

Q.	No. My question was: Why didn’t you call during 2011, 2012 and 2013 if you saw the rate changing periodically on your bill and you believed that you were on a fixed rate?

A.	Because it wasn’t as high as PP&L [sic].

Q.	So, you’re saying that you only became concerned when IDT’s rate went higher than PPL’s rate?

A.	Exactly.

Q.	Okay. Are you saying that the first time that you thought that there might be a difference between what IDT was billing you and what you were promised was in 2014?

A.	Yes.

Q.	Okay.

A.	It kept going up, which I knew, but PP&L’s [sic] was doing the same thing, but not as high as you. 

Q.	You’re swearing here today that the telephone sales representative that you talked to promised you a guaranteed saving?

A.	Yes, sir, I am. Why would I have went with you?

Tr. at 18-19.

		While IDT contends that the testimony of its witness addressing the EGS’ training and scripts refutes that claim, as the ALJ found and the OCA argues, that witness had no knowledge of the telemarketing made to Mr. Kiback.  I.D. at 10; R. Exc. at 8-9; Tr. at 39.  IDT’s reliance on McCauley and Bennett to support its argument that Mr. Kiback’s testimony was insufficient to support the ALJ’s finding is also misplaced because, as the OCA contends, these cases are distinguishable.[footnoteRef:7] [7:  	IDT also cites to the ALJ Initial Decision in MacLuckie v. Palmco Energy Pennsylvania, LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2402558 (Initial Decision issued June 16, 2014), for the proposition that it is not unreasonable, false advertising, or unethical to offer a low introductory rate that subsequently increases as an enticement to enroll.  That Initial Decision, issued on preliminary motion, was reversed and remanded.  See MacLuckie December 2014 Remand Order; see also MacLuckie v. Palmco Energy PA, LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2402558 (Initial Decision dated April 30, 2015) (MacLuckie April 2015 I.D.).  Moreover, at issue here is not whether an introductory rate is unethical, but rather whether IDT’s telemarketer misled Mr. Kiback about the nature of the rate in marketing IDT’s service.] 


	McCauley involved a complainant’s allegations of unreliable and unreasonable service.  In that case, the complainant’s evidence comprised her testimony that the outages she experienced, over an eighteen-year period, were excessive and that company workers just sat in their trucks at substations rather than restoring service.  The company refuted the complainant’s testimony with the testimony of an employee who was “well qualified to render an expert opinion on the Company's electric system and the measures needed to restore electric service after an outage.”  McCauley, 2014 WL 1390779 at *5.  This company witness “provided extensive, detailed testimony regarding the Company's distribution system, recent outages at the Complainant's residence, the causes of those outages and the Company's actions to restore service in a reasonable time.”  Id.  In other words, in that case, the company witness testified specifically about the company’s interactions with the complaining customer.  Neither the issue nor the record evidence in McCauley is similar to the circumstances in this proceeding.  Expert testimony is not required from the Complainant to prove his understanding of the offer made to him over the phone through an unsolicited telemarketing call.  For these reasons, this case is distinguishable from McCauley.  Bennett is similarly distinguishable because in that case the respondent offered the direct testimony of a witness qualified to address facts regarding the complainant’s account and the specific matter at issue to refute the complainant’s testimony.

	As addressed, supra, IDT’s witness Stoughton could not address facts specific to Mr. Kiback’s solicitation to refute his testimony.  While IDT claims it is unrealistic to expect an EGS to present evidence of a specific sales call by presenting either a recording of the call, the testimony of the live agent as a witness, or both, we disagree.  First, in a 2013 investigation proceeding involving, inter alia, IDT’s telemarketing practices, IDT acknowledged the existence of at least some recordings of consumer contacts.  See Pa. PUC v. IDT Energy, Inc., Docket No. M-2013-2314312 (Order entered October 17, 2013) at 5 (“IDT Compliance Managers reviewed recordings of the consumer contacts, when available[.]”).  Second, in MacLuckie April 2015 I.D., the record evidence produced by the EGS in that proceeding included both the transcript of the subject sales call and the testimony of the agent involved.  Finally, our 2010 Interim Guidelines, similar to our current Regulation at 52 Pa. Code § 111.5, specifically required EGSs not only to train their agents, for whose fraudulent activity the EGSs are responsible, but also to monitor telephonic marketing and sales calls for compliance.[footnoteRef:8]  See 2010 Interim Guidelines at Section D.2. [8: 	 	We also note that while the identity of the telemarketer was not disclosed on the record, IDT contends in its Exception that it would be unrealistic to track down a “former” independent telemarketer, suggesting at a minimum that IDT knew the specific telemarketer involved.  ] 


		The ALJ’s reliance on Yaglidereliler is also appropriate. The ALJ noted that with regard to marketing by competitive suppliers to residential and small business customers, we stated the following:

Residential and small business customers, however, are not necessarily well-versed in gas procurement and pricing practices. For this reason, it is all the more important that they be able to rely on all the information provided by their prospective supplier, whether oral or written, and that all disclosures be clear and unequivocal. If the Complainant were led to believe through oral communications that although variable, his rate would remain competitive and reasonable, that may have a bearing on the propriety of Blue Pilot’s marketing practices.  

Yaglidereliler at 20; I.D. at 12.  Contrary to IDT’s characterization, the ALJ relied on this case not to measure the sufficiency of the evidence, but rather to accurately frame the issue in this proceeding.  As the ALJ correctly concluded from our decision in Yaglidereliler, “oral representations made to a consumer during the time of the sale are important.”  I.D. at 12.  While the third party verification and disclosure statement are two important aspects of the EGS’ sales process, equally important is the EGS’ marketing that precedes consummation of the sale.

		The gravamen of Mr. Kiback’s Complaint was his understanding from IDT’s oral telemarketing that IDT’s rate would be below PPL’s.  If, as the ALJ stated, a recording of the telemarketing call was not available, IDT could have presented the testimony of the sales agent or even a copy of the script that its witness testified the agents were directed to use.  I.D. at 10.  IDT presented none of this, compelling the ALJ’s conclusion that Mr. Kiback’s testimony was more credible when weighed against the paucity of evidence by IDT regarding the marketing.  Evidence of the subsequent disclosure statement, which did not contain the rate promised to Mr. Kiback, and right to rescind, did not negate an underlying marketing violation.  I.D. at 11, 13.  

	The ALJ determined that IDT failed to refute Mr. Kiback’s evidence, that Mr. Kiback’s testimony was credible, and that Mr. Kiback carried his burden of proof.  Upon our review of the record, we find no reason to modify the ALJ’s evidentiary assessments, with which we agree and find to be supported by the record.[footnoteRef:9] [9: 	 	See Application of JET Sedan Services, LLC, 2010 WL 3378286 (Pa.P.U.C.) (ALJ’s assessment of the overall credibility of a witness will not be disturbed when supported by the record), citing Danovitz v. Portnoy, 399 Pa. 599, 161 A.2d 146 (1960); Application of Harrisburg City Cab, Inc., Docket No. A-00122208 (Order entered March 1, 2007) (Commission is ultimate factfinder and arbiter of witness credibility), citing 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 335(a), 703(e).] 


		With respect to IDT’s second Exception, that the ALJ’s Initial Decision does not comport with Commission policy and precedent, we disagree.  As the OCA contends and the ALJ found, our regulatory scheme encompasses the entire sales process, from oral marketing to written consummation.  I.D. at 11-13; R. Exc. at 14-16.  Further, as the OCA argued, both Dawes and Hoke, relied on by IDT, are distinguishable.  R. Exc. at 16-17.

	Dawes involved a challenge to a rate that was verified through the TPV.  The TPV was not moved into evidence in this proceeding.  R. Exc. at 13; I.D. at 13, n.1.  Additionally, we note that the ALJ in Dawes characterized the complainant’s testimony regarding the EGS’ rate compared to the EDC rate going forward as unclear.  Dawes, ALJ Initial Decision at 21.  In this instance, Mr. Kiback did not challenge the specific rate but rather the promised savings, and the ALJ found his testimony to be credible.  I.D. at 10, 12.  The other case cited by IDT, Hoke, involved a complaint against the EGS’ rate as advertised through the Pennsylvania Power Switch Website, not a dispute over the EGS’ oral marketing, and therefore is factually distinguishable and inapposite to IDT’s argument.  As the OCA contends, IDT’s failure to provide adequate responsive evidence to refute Mr. Kiback’s credible testimony supports the ALJ’s decision.

		Finally, with respect to IDT’s third Exception regarding the imposition of a civil penalty and order of refund, we again agree with the ALJ’s analysis that the imposition of a civil penalty and order of a refund are appropriate remedies in this proceeding.  While we do not have traditional ratemaking authority over competitive suppliers and do not regulate competitive supply rates charged by EGSs, we do have subject matter jurisdiction to regulate aspects of EGS services, including marketing and sales activities.   IDT December 2014 Order.  IDT construes that Order as standing for the proposition that we may order a refund for failure to abide by terms of a written disclosure statement.  We referred to that transgression, however, by way of example and not limitation.  As we stated there, “[h]aving the authority to order EGS credits and/or refunds carries out these statutorily-prescribed consumer protections (under Section 2809(b) of the Electric Competition Act and Chapter 54 of our Regulations) by ensuring that electric generation supply bills are adjusted accordingly when an EGS, for example, fails to bill a customer in accordance with its disclosure statement.”  IDT December 2014 Order at 17-18 (emphasis added).  As we concluded there, our plenary authority under Section 501(a) of the Code includes directing an EGS to issue a credit or refund for an overbill in “appropriate circumstances.”  See id. at 18; Werle v. Respond Power LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2429158 (Order entered  February 23, 2015); Joseph Nadav v. Respond Power LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2429159 (Order entered December 19, 2014).  Failure to abide by our Regulations and applicable regulatory standards governing telemarketing[footnoteRef:10] and the information to be provided to customers – oral or written – also constitute appropriate circumstances that justify ordering of a credit or refund. [10: 		We note that in Commonwealth of PA v. Blue Pilot Energy, LLC, Docket No. C-2014-2427655 (Order entered December 11, 2014) (Blue Pilot December 2014 Order), we determined that we did not have jurisdiction to enforce the federal Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law and Telemarketer Registration Act; however we found that we did have jurisdiction to enforce our own Regulations.  See Blue Pilot December 2014 Order at 16-18.  Because our regulatory standards essentially incorporate the marketing behaviors prohibited in those acts by means of reference to the acts rather than wholesale repetition of the same standards, in order to be clear, we note that herein we find a violation of our regulatory standards and not of any implicated federal act.  
 ] 


		IDT also contends that if we affirm the ALJ’s Initial Decision and sustain Mr. Kiback’s Complaint, we will “establish[] terrible precedent that would undermine the entire competitive supply market, solely on the basis of vague allegations of sales agent statements that are far from certain[.]”  Exc. at 27.  Instead, asserts IDT, we should view this case simply as a complaint about a “temporary one-month price spike[.]”  Id.   We disagree.  Mr. Kiback’s testimony clearly established his understanding, based upon the telemarketer’s representations, that his rate would assure him savings over PPL’s price to compare.  When his rate exceeded PPL’s, he complained.  

	Our 2010 Interim Guidelines and successor Regulations are intended to ensure that customers are able to rely on all information competitive providers give them.  As a licensed EGS, IDT is a market stakeholder that shares in responsibility for educating consumers to the benefits and risks of competitive shopping.  The fairness and integrity of a successful competitive market depends upon a well-informed consuming public.  An order confirming that suppliers are responsible for clear and forthright marketing strengthens that market for all stakeholders, particularly consumers and their suppliers.

		IDT also took exception to the imposition of a penalty to the extent that it contended that the violations found by the ALJ were mutually exclusive.  We disagree.  As the OCA contends, a violation of our marketing regulatory standards is separate and distinct from a finding of a violation of our billing Regulations.  Therefore, we agree with the ALJ’s finding of two separate violations.  Since IDT did not refute the level of the penalty imposed by the ALJ upon consideration of each of the relevant factors under our policy statement, at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c), we adopt the ALJ’s analysis and confirm the level of penalty imposed. We also affirm the ALJ’s direction that IDT refund to Mr. Kiback the amount by which it overbilled him compared to PPL’s price to compare in the months of January and February 2014.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we will adopt the Initial Decision of the Administrative Law Judge as modified herein, deny the Exceptions of the IDT, and sustain the Complaint, all consistent with this Opinion and Order; THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:
1.	That the Exceptions filed by IDT Energy, Inc. on March 9, 2015, are denied.

2.	That the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Joel H. Cheskis issued on February 17, 2015, is adopted as modified.

	3.	That the Formal Complaint filed by Stephen Kiback against IDT Energy, Inc. on March 4, 2014, at Docket No. C-2014-2409676 is sustained.

	4.	That IDT Energy, Inc. compute and refund to the Complainant the difference between the price billed and the PPL price-to-compare in effect for the months of January and February 2014 within thirty days of the date of entry of this Opinion and Order.

	5.	That, in accordance with Section 3301 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301, within thirty (30) days of receipt of this Opinion and Order, IDT Energy, Inc. shall pay a civil penalty in the amount of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for the violation of the Public Utility Commission’s Regulation at 52 Pa. Code § 54.4(a) and the 2010 Interim Guidelines at Section H.2.  Certified check or money order in that amount shall be made payable to “Commonwealth of Pennsylvania” and sent addressed as follows:


				Secretary
				Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission
				P.O. Box 3265
				Harrisburg, PA  17105-3265


		6.	That IDT Energy, Inc. cease and desist from further violations of the Public Utility Commission’s Regulations.
	
7.	That a copy of this Opinion and Order be served upon the Financial and Assessment Chief, Office of Administrative Services.

8.	That the proceeding docketed at C-2014-2409676 be marked closed upon payment of the penalty described in Ordering Paragraph No. 5.

[bookmark: _GoBack][image: ]							BY THE COMMISSION,

						
							Rosemary Chiavetta
							Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED: August 20, 2015

ORDER ENTERED: August 20, 2015
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